
 

Council Offices, Foster Avenue, Beeston, Nottingham, NG9 1AB  

www.broxtowe.gov.uk    

 

 
 
 
 
 

 

Tuesday, 9 May 2023 
Dear Sir/Madam 
 
A meeting of the Council will be held on Wednesday, 17 May 2023 in the Council 
Chamber, Council Offices, Foster Avenue, Beeston NG9 1AB, commencing at 7.00 pm. 
 
Should you require advice on declaring an interest in any item on the agenda, please 
contact the Monitoring Officer at your earliest convenience. 
 
Yours faithfully 

 
Chief Executive 
 
To Councillors: All Members  
 
 

A G E N D A 
 
 
1.   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

 
 

 To receive apologies and to be notified of the attendance of 
substitutes. 
 
 

 

2.   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 

 

 Members are requested to declare the existence and nature 
of any disclosable pecuniary interest and/or other interest in 
any item on the agenda. 
 
 

 

3.   MINUTES 
 

(Pages 5 - 14) 

 The Council is asked to confirm as a correct record the 
minutes of the meeting held on 1 March 2023. 
 
 

 

4.   PRESENTATION OF THE FORMER MAYOR'S JEWEL OF 
OFFICE   
 
 

 

Public Document Pack



 

 

5.   VOTE OF THANKS   
 
 

 

6.   ELECTION OF MAYOR   
 
 

 

7.   APPOINTMENT OF DEPUTY MAYOR   
 
 

 

8.   ELECTION OF LEADER 
 

 

 The Council is requested to elect the Leader of the Council 
by resolution. 
 
 

 

9.   RECOGNITION OF POLITICAL LEADERS 
 

 

 The Council is requested to note the Members chosen as 
Leader and Deputy Leader of the Opposition and the Leader 
and Deputy Leaders of any other group. 
 
 

 

10.   APPOINTMENTS TO CABINET AND COMMITTEES OF 
THE CABINET 
 

 

 To note appointments to the Cabinet and Committees of the 
Cabinet by the Leader in accordance with the schedule laid 
before the Meeting. 
 
 

 

11.   ARRANGEMENTS FOR THE DISCHARGE OF 
FUNCTIONS 
 

 

 1. Appointments to Committees/Overview & Scrutiny 
Committee/etc. 
 
To make appointments in accordance with the 
schedule to be laid before the meeting. 
 

2.  The Council is asked to NOTE that either the 
Leader of the Council or another Councillor being 
their nominated representative, and either the 
Leader of the Opposition or another Councillor 
being their nominated representative, have the 
right to attend any of the Council’s Committees, 
which are not scrutiny Committees, as ex-officio 
Members and to speak but not vote at it provided 
that such nominated representatives may not be 
in attendance at the same meeting as their 
respective Leaders, unless they have been 
appointed as a Member of that Committee or are 
acting as a substitute for a named Member. 

 



 

 

12.   REPRESENTATIONS ON OUTSIDE BODIES 
 

 

 To appoint representatives on outside bodies in accordance 
with the schedule to be laid before the meeting. 
 
 

 

13.   SCHEME OF DELEGATION 
 

(Pages 15 - 52) 

 To agree the Scheme of Delegation. 
 
 

 

 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

COUNCIL 
 

WEDNESDAY, 1 MARCH 2023 
 
 

Present: 
 

Councillor D Grindell, Mayor 
 

Councillors: D Bagshaw 
L A Ball BEM 
M Brown 
M J Crow 
S Dannheimer 
S Easom 
L Ellis 
L Fletcher 
J C Goold 
T Hallam 
R I Jackson 
E Kerry 
S Kerry 
L A Lally 
P Lally 
H Land 
G Marshall 
J W McGrath 
J M Owen 
P J Owen 
J P T Parker 
S Paterson 
J C Patrick 
D D Pringle 
M Radulovic MBE 
R S Robinson 
C M Tideswell 
I L Tyler 
P D Simpson 
H E Skinner 
D K Watts 
E Williamson 
R D Willimott 
 

 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors E H Atherton, S A Bagshaw, 
B C Carr, S J Carr, T A Cullen, M Handley, M Hannah, H G Khaled MBE, 
R D MacRae and P Roberts-Thomson. 

 
 

64 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
There were no declarations of interest. 
 
 

Page 5

Agenda Item 3.



65 MINUTES  
 
The minutes of the meeting on 14 December 2022 were confirmed and signed as a 
correct record.  
 
 

66 MINUTES OF THE FREEMAN AND ALDERMAN COUNCILS  
 
The minutes of the meetings of the Freeman and Alderman Councils on 16 November 
2022 and 14 December 2022 were confirmed and signed as a correct record. 
 
 

67 MAYOR'S ANNOUNCEMENTS  
 
The Mayor gave a brief résumé of his engagements including visits to food banks and 
the Mayor’s Charity Tea Party.  He also summarised his duties at the Holocaust 
Memorial Day commemorations.  
 
 

68 REFERENCES  
 
 

68.1 INDEPENDENT REMUNERATION PANEL  
 
25 January 2023 
Pay award and review of allowances 
 
Members considered the 5% pay award for the financial year 2023/24, that have been 
recommended by the Independent Remuneration Panel, who had also recommended 
that the two Business Manager Roles be reinstated at an allowance of £315 per 
annum, as they had an essential role organising attendance at Committees and 
mentoring new Councillors.   
 
It was proposed by Councillor M Radulovic MBE and seconded by Councillor T Hallam 
that the matter of the increase in Member’s Allowances be considered at a future 
meeting to allow the new Council to determine the award.  On being put to the 
meeting the motion was carried. 
 

RESOLVED that there be a 5% increase in Member’s Allowances be 
considered at a future meeting to allow the new Council to determine the award 
and that the two Business Managers roles be reinstated with an allowance of 
£315 each per annum. 
 
 

68.2 CABINET  
 
20 December 2022 
Local Council Tax Support Scheme 2023/24 
 
Members considered the arrangements to operate the Local Council Tax Support 
Schemer 2023/24. 
 

Page 6



 RESOLVED that the current Local Council Tax Support Scheme remains 
in place for 2023/24. 
 
 

69 PAY POLICY STATEMENT 2023-2024  
 
Consideration was given to the Pay Policy Statement for 2023/24 which set out the 
Council’s policies relating to the remuneration of its officers, including the relationship 
between the levels of pay to senior and junior officers. 

RESOLVED that the Pay Policy Statement for 2023/24 be approved. 
 
 

70 DESIGNATION OF POLLING PLACES  
 
Consideration was given to proposed changes to three polling places within the 
Borough. 
 

RESOLVED that the amendments to the designation of polling places be 
approved. 
 
 

71 AMENDMENTS TO THE CONSTITUTION  
 
The Council debated changes to the Constitution that would allow the Licensing and 
Appeals Committee to consider appeals regarding Discretionary Housing Payments, 
with Panels to be convened as requires, bringing this policy into line with other 
appeals considered by members. 
 

RESOLVED that the responsibilities for the Discretionary Housing 
Payments Panel be transferred to the Licensing and Appeals Committee. 
 
 

72 ATTENDANCE AT MEETINGS  
 
The Local Government Act 1972 stated that when a Councillor fails to attend any 
meeting for six consecutive months from the date of their last attendance, then, 
subject to certain exceptions, they cease to be a Member of the  authority, unless the 
Council accepts a reason for the failure to attend before the six months expires. It is 
put before Members to consider a dispensation under Section 85 (1) of the Local 
Government Act 1972 for the period of six months from 1 March 2023 before which 
forfeiture applies.  
 

RESOLVED that Councillor E H Atherton be granted a dispensation under 
85 (1) of the Local Government Act 1972 for the period of six months from 1 
March 2023. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 7



73 TO APPROVE THE REVENUE AND CAPITAL BUDGETS, CAPITAL STRATEGY, 
TREASURY MANAGEMENT STRATEGY, INVESTMENTS STRATEGY, MEDIUM 
TERM GENERAL FUND FINANCIAL STRATEGY AND FIX THE COUNCIL TAX FOR 
THE YEAR COMMENCING 1 APRIL 2023  
 
Councillor M Radulovic MBE offered his sincerest thanks to all Councillors and 
Officers who assisted in preparing the budget.  
 
The following amendment was proposed by Councillor R I Jackson and seconded by 
Councillor M J Crow: 
 
Establish a cross party staff vacancy member reference panel to deliver a saving of 
£180,000 from current new and long-term vacant posts noting that the current new 
and senior vacant posts total £448,208 including on costs. 
 
The debate on the amendment focussed on the performance of the previous 
administration, that the proposal would not mean redundancies, and would balance 
the books without a Council Tax rise, against the pressure that was put on Officers by 
vacant posts being deleted.   
 
On being put to the meeting the motion fell.  The vote was recorded and the voting 
was as follows: 
 

For Against Abstain 

L A Ball BEM D Bagshaw  

M Brown S Dannheimer  

M J Crow D Grindell  

S Easom T Hallam  

L Ellis L A Lally  

L Fletcher P Lally  

J C Goold H Land  

R I Jackson G Marshall  

E Kerry J W McGrath  

S Kerry S Paterson  

J M Owen J C Patrick  

P J Owen M Radulovic MBE  

J Parker R S Robinson  

D D Pringle H E Skinner  

P D Simpson C M Tideswell   

R D Willimott I L Tyler  

 D K Watts  

 E Williamson  

 
The Council debated the substantive motion with particular reference to it being a no 
cuts budget and that the Council was set on a course of sustainable progress. 
 
In accordance with the Local Authorities (Standing Orders) (England) (Amendment) 
Regulations 2014, a recorded vote was required.  
 
 
 
 
 

Page 8



The voting was as follows: 
 

For Against Abstain 

D Bagshaw L A Ball BEM  

S Dannheimer M Brown  

D Grindell M J Crow  

T Hallam S Easom  

L A Lally L Ellis  

P Lally L Fletcher  

H Land J C Goold  

G Marshall R I Jackson  

J W McGrath E Kerry  

S Paterson S Kerry  

J C Patrick J M Owen  

M Radulovic MBE P J Owen  

R S Robinson J Parker  

H E Skinner D D Pringle  

C M Tideswell  P D Simpson  

I L Tyler R D Willimott  

D K Watts   

E Williamson   

 
RESOLVED that: 

 
1. The recommendations arising from the Cabinet meeting of 7 February 

2023 as set out below be approved and adopted.  
 

 The Housing Revenue Account budget as submitted be approved. 

 The General Fund revenue budgets as submitted be approved. 

 The capital submissions and priorities within them be approved and 
the Deputy Chief Executive be authorised to arrange the financing 
of the capital programme as necessary. 

 An amount of £25,000 be provided for a General Contingency in 
2023/24. 

 The Council Tax Requirement for 2023/24 including special 
expenses (but excluding local precepting requirements) be 
£6,372,250. 

 An amount of £1,190,742 be withdrawn from the General Fund 
reserves in 2023/24 to include: 

a) £938,181 from General Fund balances. 
b) £252,561 from the General Fund earmarked reserves. 

 The Capital Strategy 2023/24 to 2025/26 be approved. 

 The Minimum Revenue Provision policy as set out be approved. 

 The Treasury Management Strategy 2023/24 to 2025/26 be 
approved. 

Page 9



 The Investments Strategy 2023/24 to 2025/26 be approved. 

 The General Fund Medium Term Financial Strategy to 2026/27 be 
approved. 

 
2. It be noted that Cabinet, at its meeting on 20 December 2022, 

approved the following amounts for the year 2023/24 in accordance 
with the Local Authorities (Calculation of Council Tax Base) (England) 
Regulations 2012: 
 
(a) 34,861.86 being the amount calculated by the Council, in 

accordance with regulation 3 of the Local Authorities 
(Calculation of Council Tax Base) (England) Regulations 2012, as 
its council tax base for the year. 

 
(b) Part of the Council's area 

Parish of Awsworth 577.62 
Parish of Brinsley  713.48 
Parish of Cossall 248.54 
Parish of Eastwood 3,050.06 
Parish of Greasley 3,732.76 
Parish of Kimberley 1,883.90 
Parish of Nuthall 2,265.27 
Parish of Stapleford 4,206.21 
Parish of Trowell 841.96 
Beeston Special Expense Area 17,163.57 
 
being the amounts calculated by the Council, in accordance with 
regulation 6 of the Regulations as the amounts of its council tax 
base for the year for dwellings in those parts of its area to which 
one or more special items relate. 
 
The amount calculated for dwellings in those parts of its area to 
which no special item relates is 178.49. 

 
3. The following amounts be now calculated by the Council for the year 

2023/24 in accordance with Sections 31 to 36 of the Local Government 
Finance Act 1992 (the Act) as amended: 
 
(a) £55,280,783 being the aggregate of the amounts which the 

Council estimates for the items set out in Section 
31A (2) of the Act. 

 
(b) £47,948,445 being the aggregate of the amounts which the 

Council estimates for the items set out in Section 
31A (3) of the Act. 

 
(c) £7,332,338 being the amount by which the aggregate at 3(a) 

above exceeds the aggregate at 3(b) above, 
calculated by the Council, in accordance with 
Section 31A (4) of the Act, as its council tax 
requirement for the year. 

 

Page 10



(d) £210.33 being the amount at 3(c) above divided by the 
amount at 2(a) above, calculated by the Council, in 
accordance with Section 31B of the Act, as the 
basic amount of its council tax for the year. 

 
(e)   £985,388 being the aggregate amount of all special items 

(including parish precepts and special expenses) 
referred to in Section 34(1) of the Act. 

 
(f)  £182.06  being the amount at 3(d) above less the result 

given by dividing the amount at 3(e) above by the 
amount at 2(a) above, calculated by the Council, in 
accordance with Section 34(2) of the Act, as the 
basic amount of its council tax for the year for 
dwellings in those parts of its area to which no 
special item relates. 

 
(g) Part of the Council's Area 

Parish of Awsworth £316.61 
Parish of Brinsley £284.35 
Parish of Cossall £228.92 
Parish of Eastwood £220.51 
Parish of Greasley £243.01 
Parish of Kimberley £253.29 
Parish of Nuthall £235.34 
Parish of Stapleford £209.30 
Parish of Trowell £281.24 
Beeston Special Expense Area £183.53 
 
being the amounts given by adding to the amount at 3(f) above 
the amounts of the special item or items relating to dwellings in 
those parts of the Council's area mentioned above divided in 
each case by the amount at 2(b) above, calculated by the 
Council, in accordance with Section 34(3) of the Act, as the basic 
amounts of its council tax for the year for dwellings in those 
parts of its area to which one or more special items relate. 

Page 11



 
 

 
 

 

PART OF THE COUNCIL'S 
AREA 

VALUATION BANDS 

A               
£ 

B                  
£ 

C              
£ 

D                 
£ 

E                    
£ 

F                  
£ 

G                 
£ 

H                 
£ 

Parish of Awsworth 211.07 246.25 281.43 316.61 386.97 457.33 527.68 633.22 

Parish of Brinsley  189.57 221.16 252.76 284.35 347.54 410.73 473.92 568.70 

Parish of Cossall 152.61 178.05 203.48 228.92 279.79 330.66 381.53 457.84 

Parish of Eastwood 147.01 171.51 196.01 220.51 269.51 318.51 367.52 441.02 

Parish of Greasley 162.01 189.01 216.01 243.01 297.01 351.01 405.02 486.02 

Parish of Kimberley 168.86 197.00 225.15 253.29 309.58 365.86 422.15 506.58 

Parish of Nuthall 156.89 183.04 209.19 235.34 287.64 339.94 392.23 470.68 

Parish of Stapleford 139.53 162.79 186.04 209.30 255.81 302.32 348.83 418.60 

Parish of Trowell 187.49 218.74 249.99 281.24 343.74 406.24 468.73 562.48 

Beeston Special Expense Area 122.35 142.75 163.14 183.53 224.31 265.10 305.88 367.06 

All other parts of the Council’s Area 121.37 141.60 161.83 182.06 222.52 262.98 303.43 364.12 

 
being the amounts given by multiplying the amounts at 3(f) and 3(g) above by the number which, in the proportion set out in 
Section 5(1) of the Act, is applicable to dwellings listed in a particular valuation band divided by the number which in that 
proportion is applicable to dwellings listed in Valuation Band D, calculated by the Council, in accordance with Section 36(1) of the 
Act, as the amounts to be taken into account for the year in respect of categories of dwellings listed in different valuation bands. 

P
age 12



 
 

 
4. That it be noted for the year 2023/24, the Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire and Rescue Authority, 

Nottinghamshire County Council and the Nottinghamshire Police and Crime Commissioner are proposing the following 
amounts in precepts issued to the Council, in accordance with Section 40 of the Local Government Finance Act 1992, for 
each of the categories of dwellings shown below: 

 

PRECEPTING AUTHORITY 

VALUATION BANDS 

A               
£ 

B                  
£ 

C              
£ 

D                 
£ 

E                    
£ 

F                  
£ 

G                 
£ 

H                 
£ 

Nottinghamshire County 
Council 1,149.11 1,340.62 1,532.14 1,723.66 2,106.70 2,489.73 2,872.77 3,447.32 

Nottinghamshire Police and 
Crime Commissioner 179.46 209.37 239.28 269.19 329.01 388.83 448.65 538.38 

Nottinghamshire and City of 
Nottingham Fire and Rescue 
Authority 59.71 69.67 79.62 89.57 109.47 129.38 149.28 179.14 

 

P
age 13



 
5. That, having calculated the aggregate in each case of the amounts at 3(h) and 4 above, the Council, in accordance with 

Section 30(2) of the Local Government Finance Act 1992, hereby sets the following amounts as the amounts of council tax 
for the year 2023/24 for each of the categories of dwellings shown below: 

 

 

PART OF THE COUNCIL'S AREA 

VALUATION BANDS 

A               
£ 

B                  
£ 

C              
£ 

D                 
£ 

E                    
£ 

F                  
£ 

G                 
£ 

H                 
£ 

Parish of Awsworth 1,599.35 1,865.91 2,132.47 2,399.03 2,932.15 3,465.27 3,998.38 4,798.06 

Parish of Brinsley  1,577.85 1,840.82 2,103.80 2,366.77 2,892.72 3,418.67 3,944.62 4,733.54 

Parish of Cossall 1,540.89 1,797.71 2,054.52 2,311.34 2,824.97 3,338.60 3,852.23 4,622.68 

Parish of Eastwood 1,535.29 1,791.17 2,047.05 2,302.93 2,814.69 3,326.45 3,838.22 4,605.86 

Parish of Greasley 1,550.29 1,808.67 2,067.05 2,325.43 2,842.19 3,358.95 3,875.72 4,650.86 

Parish of Kimberley 1,557.14 1,816.66 2,076.19 2,335.71 2,854.76 3,373.80 3,892.85 4,671.42 

Parish of Nuthall 1,545.17 1,802.70 2,060.23 2,317.76 2,832.82 3,347.88 3,862.93 4,635.52 

Parish of Stapleford 1,527.81 1,782.45 2,037.08 2,291.72 2,800.99 3,310.26 3,819.53 4,583.44 

Parish of Trowell 1,575.77 1,838.40 2,101.03 2,363.66 2,888.92 3,414.18 3,939.43 4,727.32 

Beeston Special Expense Area 1,510.63 1,762.41 2,014.18 2,265.95 2,769.49 3,273.04 3,776.58 4,531.90 

All other parts of the Council’s Area 1,509.65 1,761.26 2,012.87 2,264.48 2,767.70 3,270.92 3,774.13 4,528.96 

 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 14



Council  17 May 2023 

Report of the Monitoring Officer 
 

SCHEME OF DELEGATION 

1. Purpose of Report 

To agree the Scheme of Delegation. 

2. Recommendation 

Council is asked to RESOLVE that the Scheme of Delegation be approved. 

3. Detail 

Part 1.1.9 of the Constitution states that at the annual meeting of the Council, it 
should: 
 
“agree the scheme of delegations or such part of it as the Constitution 
determines it is for the Council to agree (as set out later in this Constitution)”. 
 
The Scheme of Delegation is included at the appendix for Councillors to 
consider. It should also be noted that, as part of the review of the Constitution 
that is to be considered by the Governance, Audit and Standards Committee on 
19 June 2023, Members will be encouraged to provide feedback on the 
consultation exercise before being submitted to Full Council. 

4. Financial Implications 

There are no financial implications. 

5. Legal Implications 

There are no Legal implications. 

6. Human Resources Implications 

There are no Human Resources implications. 

7. Union Comments 

There were no Union Comments. 

8. Climate Change Implications 

There were no comments from the Waste and Climate Change Manager. 

9. Data Protection Compliance Implications 

This report does not contain any [OFFICIAL (SENSITIVE)] information and there 
are no Data Protection issues in relation to this report. 

Page 15

Agenda Item 13.



Council  17 May 2023 

10. Equality Impact Assessment 

As this is not a change to policy or a new policy, therefor an equality impact 
assessment not required. 

11. Background Papers 

None. 

Page 16



 
 
 
 
 
 
 

APPENDIX 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Broxtowe Borough 
Council Constitution 

Chapter 3 – Part 1 

Scheme of Delegation 

Page 17



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 

 

Chapter 3 Part 1:  THE SCHEME OF DELEGATION 

1. Introduction to the Scheme of Delegation 

1.1 Under the Local Government Act 1972 and the Local Government Act 2000 the Council 

has arranged for the discharge of its functions and responsibilities by the Council bodies 

detailed below and as set out in the corresponding section of this Constitution: 

1.1.1 The Council (Chapter 2 Part 1& 2); 

1.1.2 The Cabinet (Chapter 2 Part 3); 

1.1.3  Committees (Chapter 2 Part 8 -17); 

1.1.4 Officers (Chapter 3 this Part 1 – the Officer Scheme of Delegation;  

1.2 The exercise of delegated powers is subject to the restrictions set out at paragraph 3 

below: 

1.3 Where a power has been delegated, the Council, Cabinet or Committee, or in the case of 

an Officer Sub-Delegation, the delegating Officer, may still exercise that power in a 

particular instance if considered appropriate. Equally, any matter may be referred up to 

the source of the delegation for determination.  

1.4 Where the name of a post is changed, or its relevant functions become vested in a 

different post, any delegated powers possessed by the post shall be retained by the 

renamed post or transferred to the different post as the case may be. This includes any 

delegated powers vested in a post by resolution of the Council, the Cabinet, or a 

Committee/Sub Committee.  

In the event of a restructure the Chief Executive shall have authority to re-allocate the 

delegated powers to other posts and shall give notice of this to the Monitoring Officer and 

the Head of Legal Services. Any use of the Chief Executive’s exercise of this delegated 

power must be reported to the Council and/or to the Cabinet as soon as practicable. 

The Officer Scheme of Delegation 

1. Introduction to the Officer Scheme of Delegation 

1.1 This Officer Scheme of Delegation (OSD) is for the Officers of the Council. ‘Officers’ are 

defined as all employees and staff employed or engaged by the Council to carry out its 

functions. It includes those under short-term, agency, or other non-employed situations. It 

Page 19



 

 

 

 

 

does not apply to any person employed by contractors who are carrying out work or 

duties for the Council under contracts. 

1.2 The OSD has been adopted by the Council and sets out the extent to which the powers 

and duties of the Council are delegated to Officers under the Local Government Act 1972, 

the Local Government Act 2000 (as amended) and all other powers enabling the 

delegation of Executive and Non-Executive functions to Officers.  

1.3 The OSD is intended to provide a streamlined, clear and simple decision-making process 

and empower Officers to carry out their functions and deliver the Council’s services within 

the Budget and Policy Framework set by the Council, and subject to the guidelines set by 

the Council, the Cabinet and the Council’s management team. The OSD should be 

interpreted widely. 

1.4 All references to legislation shall be deemed to include any subsequent amendments to 

such legislation. 

1.5 In this OSD references to powers and functions of ‘the Council’ include the powers and 

functions of the Cabinet (Executive).  

1.6 The delegations under this OSD are intended to be cumulative. Each delegation may be 

read on its own unless it is specifically expressed to be subject to another. 

1.7 An Officer to whom a power has been delegated may Sub-Delegate that power to another 

appropriate Officer(s) following consultation with the Chief Executive and Monitoring 

Officer. A record of any delegations shall be provided to the Monitoring Officer, Head of 

Legal and Head of Governance for their records.  

1.8 Where an Officer has delegated powers, the Council, the Cabinet, a Committee or a 

delegating Officer (as the case may be) can still exercise that power in a particular case if 

it considers it appropriate to do so. It remains open to an Officer not to exercise delegated 

powers and instead refer the matter up to the source of their delegated power for 

determination.  

2. Functions which are Not Delegated 

2.1 This OSD does not delegate to Officers: 

2.1.1 any matter reserved to full Council by law or otherwise in accordance with this 

Constitution;  

2.1.2 any matter which by law may not be delegated to an Officer;  

2.1.3 any Key Decision; 

Page 20



 

 

 

 

 

2.1.4 any matter expressly withdrawn from delegation by the Council, Committees, 

Leader or Cabinet or delegating Officer (as the case may be). 

3. Restrictions 

3.1 The exercise of delegated powers by an Officer is subject to: 

3.1.1  any statutory restrictions; 

3.1.2 the Budget and Policy framework;  

3.1.3 any provision of this Constitution including the Financial Regulations, 

Procurement Regulations and Procedure Rules; 

3.1.4 any financial limits set out in the revenue or capital budgets except as set out in 

the Financial Regulations set out at Chapter 4 Part 1&2;  

3.1.5 any policy set by the Council or its Committees, the Cabinet, the Leader or Chief 

Executive; 

3.1.6 the Employee Code of Conduct; 

3.1.7 consultation (as applicable). 

4. Consultation and Liaison 

4.1 When exercising delegated powers Officers must consult as appropriate, give due regard 

to any advice received and keep Councillors and relevant other Officers properly informed 

of actions arising within the scope the delegation exercised. 

5. Transfer of Functions 

5.1 Where the name of a post is changed, or its relevant functions become vested in a 

different post, any delegated powers possessed by the post shall be retained by the 

renamed post or transferred to the different post as the case may be. This includes any 

delegated powers vested in a post by resolution of the Council, the Cabinet, or a 

Committee/Sub Committee.  

5.2 In the event of a restructure the Chief Executive shall have authority to re-allocate the 

delegated powers to other posts and shall give notice of this to the Monitoring Officer. Any 

use of this delegated power must be reported to the Council and/or to the Cabinet as 

soon as practicable. 

Page 21



 

 

 

 

 

6. Proper Officer Functions and Delegations 

6.1 Officers designated by the Council as “Appropriate” or “Proper” Officer” for the purposes 

of any statutory function (including where necessary or convenient having regard to any 

professional or technical requirements of an Officer who is not an employee of the 

Council) and their functions are set out at the Schedule of Proper Officer Functions & 

Delegations below. 

7. The Council’s Statutory Officers and Management Structure 

The Council shall engage such Officers as considered necessary for the discharge of its 

functions. 

The Statutory Officers & The General Management Team 

7.1 The Council’s Statutory Officers are: 

7.1.1 The Head of Paid Service (Chief Executive); 

7.1.2 The Deputy Chief Executive/Section 151 Officer;    

7.1.3 The Monitoring Officer.  

7.2 The Statutory Officers together with the Executive Director are the Council’s ‘Chief 

Officers’ and comprise the Council’s General Management Team. 

The Senior Management Team 

7.3 The Senior Officers listed below are part of the Council’s Senior Management Team and 

they have delegated authority within the terms of this Constitution for their areas of 

responsibility as set out further below, without limitation, at paragraphs 13 – 24.  

7.3.1 Head of Legal Services & Deputy Monitoring Officer; 

7.3.2 Head of Governance and Deputy Monitoring Officer; 

7.3.3 Head of Finance Services; 

7.3.4 Head of Planning & Economic Development; 

7.3.5 Head of Asset Management;   

7.3.6 Head of Housing; 

7.3.7 Head of Environment Services; 

Page 22



 

 

 

 

 

7.3.8 Head of Revenue, Benefits & Customer Services; 

7.3.9 Head of Administrative Services; 

7.3.10 Chief Environmental Health Officer; 

7.3.11 Chief Communities Officer.  

7.4 The following Senior Officers are also members of the Council’s Senior Management 

Team: 

7.4.1 ICT and Business Transformation Manager;  

7.4.2 Payroll and Job Evaluation Manager; 

7.4.3 Health and Safety and Emergency Planning Manager;  

7.4.4 Corporate Communications Manager;  

7.4.5 Human Resources Manager;  

7.4.6 Commercial Manager.  

8. Delegation of General Powers 

8.1 The delegation to Chief Officers and Senior Officers shall include:- 

8.1.1 All powers under all present and future legislation relevant to their areas of 

responsibility and the discharge of their duties and functions, including all powers 

incidental and/or conducive to that legislation, their areas of responsibility and the 

discharge of their duties and functions. All such functions must be managed in 

accordance with Council policies, strategies and procedures and all applicable 

law. It shall be the responsibility of each chief Officer to liaise with their senior 

Officers as to the discharge of their delegated functions to ensure it aligns with 

corporate policy. 

8.1.2 The power to authorise the exercise of the delegated powers of decision by such 

other Officers as may be deemed appropriate for the proper and efficient 

performance of the work. A record of any delegations shall be provided to the 

Monitoring Officer and Head of Legal and Head of Governance (The Deputy 

Monitoring Officers) for their retention. 

8.2 If the Officer to whom a function has been delegated is unable to act due to a conflict of 

interest, a conflict of opinion with a Chief Officer or any other reason, then it is for the 

Page 23



 

 

 

 

 

Chief Executive to determine who should exercise that function. If the Chief Executive is 

unable to act due to a conflict of interest, or any other reason, then it is for the Section 

Deputy Chief Executive/Section 151 Officer to determine who should exercise that 

function. If the Chief Executive and Deputy Chief Executive/Section 151 Officer are 

unable to act due to a conflict of interest, or any other reason, then the function can be 

exercised by any Chief Officer from the General Management Team.  

8.3 Subject to any statutory restrictions or as otherwise provided for in this Constitution, the 

powers of a Statutory Officer/Chief Officer, Proper Officer or Senior Officer may be 

exercised by their nominated deputies or any other authorised Officer.  

8.4 A Statutory Officer/Chief Officer, Proper Officer or Senior Officer may, so far as 

permissible under the law or otherwise as provided for in this Constitution, sub-delegate 

their powers within their area of responsibility (including cross-service delegation where 

appropriate). 

Chief Officer Responsibilities and Specific Delegated Powers  

Without limitation the responsibilities and specific delegated powers of the Chief Officers are as 

set out below.  

9. The Chief Executive (Head of Paid Service) 

9.1 To act as the Council’s Head of Paid Service and to undertake the associated duties as 

set out in Section 4 of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989. 

9.2 To lead, manage and direct all Officers of the Council in providing a corporate, co- 

ordinated, cross-functional approach towards Strategy and Policy Development and the 

delivery of services for the Council. 

9.3 To deal with the grant and supervision of exemptions from political restrictions in respect 

of the relevant Council’s posts. 

9.4 To review the Whistleblowing Procedure for Employees. 

9.5 To review the Employee Code of Conduct. 

9.6 In consultation with the HR Manager, to deal with all matters other than those reserved to 

the Council relating to the recruitment, appointment, remuneration, conditions of service, 

discipline, dismissal, superannuation, qualifications, training, job evaluation, promotion, 

safety and provision of welfare facilities of all employees of the Council (including 

Page 24



 

 

 

 

 

settlement of claims up to £25,000 after consultation with the Monitoring Officer and 

Deputy Chief Executive/Section 151 Officer if within existing budgets). 

9.7 To act as the Council’s Returning Officer for the elections of Councillors of the Borough, 

Electoral Registration Officer for the Borough and Proper Officer for Parish polls under the 

Local Government Act 1972. 

9.8 To act as the Council’s Emergency Planning Officer in both wartime and peacetime 

emergencies and to liaise as necessary with neighbouring authorities, government 

departments, agencies and other bodies. 

9.9 To perform the functions of the Council in respect of crime reduction including the 

payment of grants within the policy and budget of the Crime and Disorder Reduction 

Partnership. 

9.10 The Chief Executive, following consultation with the Leader of the Council and, where 

possible, the Leader of the Opposition, shall have the power to allocate any new functions 

of the Council, or a function which has not been allocated under this Scheme, to the 

Officer (including the Chief Executive), which the Chief Executive considers most 

appropriate to perform the function. This enhances delegated urgency powers to the Chief 

Executive in light of any pandemic or other such circumstances. 

9.11 In consultation with the Leader of the Council, and other recognised group Leaders, to 

nominate or recommend any appointment to Liberty Leisure Ltd on behalf of the Council 

as shareholder. 

9.12 In consultation with the Leader of the Council and where possible, the Leader of the 

Opposition to authorise the taking or carrying out of action, notwithstanding anything on 

the Council’s Procedure Rules or Financial Regulations, where they consider that 

circumstances exist that make it expedient or necessary for action to be taken prior to the 

time when such action could be approved through the normal Council procedures.   A 

report on such action, and the circumstances justifying the exercise of the delegated 

powers, shall be made to the next meeting of the Council as appropriate. 

9.13 Any action in accordance with the Council’s agreed policies and procedures with respect 

to the recruitment, appointment, promotion, training, grading, discipline, determination of 

wages and salary scales, determination of allowances, determination and application of 

conditions of service, including but not limited to allocation of leave, honorariums, ill health 

retirement and determination of establishment. 

 

 

Page 25



 

 

 

 

 

 

10. The Deputy Chief Executive/Section 151 Officer  

10.1 The Deputy Chief Executive shall deputise for the Chief Executive in their absence or 

where they are unable to act unless prohibited from doing so under the law or otherwise 

by any provision of this Constitution.  

10.2 To perform the Council’s commercial services function.  

10.3 The Deputy Chief Executive is the Council’s Deputy Chief Executive/Section 151 Officer 

and in such capacity:- 

10.1.1 Ensuring Lawfulness and Financial Prudence in Decision-Making 

After consulting with the Head of Paid Service and the Monitoring Officer, the 

Deputy Chief Executive/Section 151 Officer  shall report to the Council, the 

Cabinet or appropriate Committee (as the case may be) and the Council’s 

external auditor, any proposal, decision or course of action which in the opinion 

of the Deputy Chief Executive/Section 151 Officer  will incur unlawful expenditure 

or is otherwise unlawful and likely to cause a loss or deficiency, or where the 

Council is about to enter an item of account unlawfully.  

10.1.2 Administration of Financial Affairs 

(a) The Deputy Chief Executive/Section 151 Officer shall be responsible for 

the administration of the financial affairs of the Council pursuant to section 

151 of the Local Government Act 1972; 

(b) To make arrangements for the provision and operation of any treasury 

management, banking and insurance services including the authorisation 

of any transaction; signing of cheques or other financial instrument; 

provision of indemnities; agreement of terms for the raising, repayment or 

cancellation of loans, investments and leases; 

(c) To take any action to recover debts due to the Council and to write off 

debts considered to be irrecoverable for any proper reason; 

(d) To authorise arrangements for the disposal of surplus or obsolete assets 

and consequential accounting entries; 

(e) To determine all financial matters specified within statutory provisions and 

not reserved therein to the Council; 

Page 26



 

 

 

 

 

(f) To allocate budgetary provision from approved contingencies and 

earmarked reserves; 

(g) To make arrangements for the provision of an internal audit service to the 

Council; 

(h) Negotiate and settle the Council’s insurance claims through insurers up to 

a financial limit determined by policy; 

(i) Together with the Chief Executive and the Monitoring Officer provide 

advice on the scope of powers and authority to take decisions, 

maladministration, financial impropriety, probity and budget and policy 

framework issues to all Councillors and support and advise Councillors and 

Officers in their respective roles. 

10.4 In consultation with the Head of Finance and Head of Revenue, Benefits & Customer 

Services: 

10.4.1 Give financial information and provide financial information to the media, 

Members of the public and the community; 

10.4.2 Write off debts to the limit set in Financial Regulations; 

10.4.3 Grant non-domestic rating discretionary relief; 

10.4.4 Assess and determine applications regarding the Policy on Discretionary Council 

Tax Discounts. 

10.5 To discharge the Council’s functions in respect of: 

10.5.1 The Administration of benefits, including determination of entitlement and the 

award of discretionary housing benefits; 

10.5.2 The Collection of revenues due to the Council under currently prevailing 

legislation relating to local government finance; 

10.5.3 The Determination and declaration of the appropriate local average rate in March 

and September each year in respect of Council mortgages and perform and 

consequential administration; 

10.5.4 Appearance at hearings of the Valuation Tribunal; 

Page 27



 

 

 

 

 

10.5.5 The recovery of rates and Council Tax including the appointment of enforcement 

agents for this purpose and the pursuit of court proceedings in consultation with 

the Head of Legal Services, where appropriate; 

10.5.6 The Management of the Council’s investments and debts, including the 

appointments of external investment managers and brokers, in accordance with 

the Council’s adopted Treasury Policy Statement; 

10.5.7 The Appointment of, and liaison with, insurers; 

10.5.8 Unless otherwise delegated, the determination of tenders in respect of all 

activities in accordance with relevant legislative requirements and organisation 

and performance of all works in relation thereof; 

10.5.9 The negotiation and acceptance of quotations from contractors for works 

classified as part of tenders within limits specified in the Financial Regulations; 

10.5.10 The reduction or remittance of the charge for non-domestic rates on occupied 

and unoccupied properties on grounds of hardship, under Section 49 of the Local 

Government Finance Act 1988. 

11. The Monitoring Officer 

11.1 The Monitoring Officer is the Council’s Monitoring Officer for the purpose of section 5 of 

the Local Government and Housing Act 1989. 

11.2 The Monitoring Officer has the following specific functions: 

11.2.1 To report to the Council, if they consider that any proposal, decision or omission 

would give rise to unlawfulness or if any decision or omission would give rise to a 

finding of maladministration, after such consultation with the Chief Executive and 

the S151 Officer. Such a report, once issued, will have the effect of stopping the 

proposal or decision being implemented until the report has been considered; 

11.2.2 To maintain an up-to-date version of the Constitution and ensure that it is widely 

available to Members, staff and public, to include the recording of any changes 

ensuring that all administrative changes are made in consultation with the Chief 

Executive, Leader and Leader of the Opposition, save where such consultees 

object to the proposed changes in which case the matter shall be determined by 

the Council; 

11.2.3 To provide support and advice to the Cabinet, Committees and Officers; 

Page 28



 

 

 

 

 

11.2.4 To provide advice to all Members on issues in relation to the scope of powers 

and authority to take decisions, interests, maladministration, financial impropriety, 

probity and the Budget and Policy Framework; 

11.2.5 To provide advice support the Council’s Standards’ Complaints Officer, 

undertake an initial assessment of complaints made under the Code of Conduct 

for Members and in consultation with an Independent Person, determine any 

further action to be taken; 

11.2.6 In consultation with the with Head of Legal Services and/or other Senior Offices 

as may be appropriate, deal with matters concerning regulators and ombudsmen.  

12. Executive Director 

12.1 To determine corporate complaints and to make payments for maladministration and 

other similar compensation awards by the Council up to a limit of £5,000. 

12.2 To negotiate compensation claims by or against the Council up to the maximum currently 

set out in Financial Regulations in capital consideration in each case or weekly 

compensation not exceeding that sum in each case. 

12.3 To perform the Council’s, Environmental Services, Governance, Administration, Payroll 

and Job Evaluation, ICT and Business Transformation, Health, Safety and Emergency 

Planning, Corporate Communication and Civic Office functions.  

12.4 To perform functions in relation to Climate Change matters. 

12.5 To act as the Council’s Data Protection Officer as required by relevant legislation.  

12.6 To act as the Council’s Senior Information Risk Owner (SIRO). 

Senior Management Team Responsibilities and Specific Delegated Powers  

Without limitation the responsibilities and specific delegated powers of the Senior Management 

Team are as set out below.  

13. Head of Legal Services and Deputy Monitoring Officer 

13.1 Legal services Affixing the Common Seal of the Council. 

13.2 Certifying true copies. 

13.3 To determine, authorise and issue any Notice, decision, proceedings (to include criminal 

and civil proceedings) and appeals on behalf of the Council. 

Page 29



 

 

 

 

 

13.4 To exercise discretion in consultation with the S151 Officer to settle court and tribunal 

proceedings and other potential proceedings. 

13.5 To authorise, in conjunction with the Chief Executive, Officers under Section 223 of the 

Local Government Act 1972 to appear on behalf of the Council in proceedings before 

the Magistrates’ Court where those Officers would otherwise not have rights of audience 

before the court. 

13.6 To arrange and authorise the signing of a contract under seal such signing to be 

witnessed by an Officer or Member of the Council and registered in a book kept for that 

purpose by the Monitoring Officer. 

13.7 To confirm unopposed public path orders and tree preservation orders. 

13.8 To determine applications for the Register of Community Assets and applications for 

compensation. 

13.9 To approve Wayleave Agreements. 

13.10 To authorise any person or sign any Notice to enable the use of the Council’s powers of 

entry to land or property including applications to the court to enforce or ensure that the 

power of entry can be exercised. 

13.11 To determine, prepare and serve applications for Certificates of Lawful Use or 

Development notices and directions subject to prior approval with the Head of Planning 

and Economic Development or his or her nominated Officer. 

13.12 To enter into an agreement regulating the development or use of land in consultation 

with the Head of Planning and Economic Development (Section 106 Town and Country 

Planning Act 1990). 

13.13 To determine appeals in relation to compensation for matters relating to the Register of 

Community Assets. 

13.14 To determine and issue any Notice, decision, proceedings, appeals not otherwise 

delegated to Officers (other than where prohibited by statute) or in circumstances where 

that Officer is unable to exercise his or her delegated authority. 

14. Head of Governance & Deputy Monitoring Officer 

14.1 To perform, the Council’s Governance functions.   

14.2 To perform the Council’s Information Governance functions.  

Page 30



 

 

 

 

 

14.3 To perform the Council’s Democratic Services functions.  

14.4 To perform the Council’s Parking Services functions.  

14.5 To perform the Council’s Surveillance functions.   

14.6 To perform the Council’s Complaints functions. 

14.7 To ensure that all decisions, reasons for those decisions, relevant Officer reports and 

 background papers are made publicly available as soon as possible. 

14.8 To act as the Council’s Senior Responsible Officer under the Surveillance Commissioner 

Code of Practice.   

15. Head of Finance Services 

15.1 To perform the Council’s Financial Management functions to manage the finances in an 

efficient manner such that the Council has sufficient financial resources to enable it to 

successfully implement its policies and plans.  

15.2 To perform the Council’s Accountancy Services functions to prepare and monitor the 

Council's detailed financial plans and pay all creditors and collect all income due to the 

Council promptly. 

15.3 To perform the Council’s Treasury Management and Banking functions to manage the 

Council's debt portfolio, investments and banking arrangements, manage the risks 

associated with these activities and pursue optimum performance consistent with these 

risks. 

15.4 To perform the Council’s Internal Audit functions as a key component of the Council’s 

governance framework to enhance and protect organisational value by providing risk-

based and objective assurance, advice and insight.   

15.5 To co-ordinate the Council’s Fraud and Corruption prevention activity.  The Council 

takes a zero-tolerance approach to fraud and corruption and is committed to establishing 

a strong anti-fraud and corruption culture. 

15.6 To co-ordinate the Council’s Business Planning and Performance Management 

framework, including support with the preparation of Business Plans and the suite of 

performance indicators and targets and the monitoring of these through the performance 

management system. 

15.7 To perform the Council’s Insurance and Risk Management functions to identify, arrange 

and monitor insurance requirements, including claims handling, and to implement risk 

Page 31



 

 

 

 

 

management initiatives which minimise the risk of injury or loss to customers, employees 

and other stakeholders and safeguard the Council's assets. 

15.8  To co-ordinate the Council’s Procurement and Commissioning activity to improve the 

delivery and cost effectiveness of high quality services across the organisation through 

the promotion of effective, prudent and innovative procurement and commissioning 

practices. 

15.9  To perform the Council’s Grant Aid activity to process applications for grant aid from 

voluntary organisations and individuals involved in sports or the arts. 

16. Head of Planning & Economic Development  

16.1 To perform the Council’s Planning regeneration and development management 

functions.  

16.2 To manage the Council’s shared Building Control functions.  

16.3 To perform the Council’s Street works functions. 

16.4 To perform the Council’s Planning policy functions.  

16.5 To determine Planning applications accordingly. 

16.6 To perform the Councils functions in relation to Economic Development, Investment 

Regeneration, and Local Enterprise Partnership.  

16.7 To determine applications for planning permission, the need for prior approval, consent 

for the display of advertisements and listed building consent and the determination of or 

response to any other application or matter received in respect of the town and country 

planning function including Article 4 directions subject in each case to the proviso that 

any Member of the Council may bring the application before the Planning Committee for 

decision, and subject also to the provisos below: 

16.7.1 Any application above that is contrary to policy made by a Member of the 

Council or by an Officer involved in the planning process, namely: Directors, 

Heads of Service and employees of the planning and building control sections 

shall be referred to Planning Committee for decision; 

16.7.2 In consultation with Ward Members and the Chair and Vice Chair of the 

Planning Committee, the decision not to take enforcement action must only be 

made in consultation with the Head of Legal Services. 

Page 32



 

 

 

 

 

16.8 To determine planning enforcement action as may be necessary after prior consultation 

with Ward Members and the Chair of Planning Committee and the Head of Legal 

Services to include the: 

 16.8.1 Investigation leading to breach of condition notices; 

 16.8.2 Investigation leading to enforcement notices and injunctions;  

16.8.3 Investigation leading to stop and temporary stop notices; 

16.8.4 Investigations leading to untidy land notices or community protection 

 notices. 

16.9 To approve or reject plans deposited under the Building Regulations and to make a 

declaration that plans approved under the Building Regulations since 1 April 1974 are of 

no effect where work has not commenced on site within 3 years of deposit of plans. 

16.10 To perform the Council's functions under the Building Act 1984 to include the issue of 

Notices under Section 36 of the Building Act 1984 (removal or alterations of work done 

in breach of Building Regulations) in consultation with the Head of Legal Services. 

16.11 To exercise all local authority functions under the currently subsisting Building Act and 

Building Regulations. 

16.12 To issue Notices requiring advance payment of Private Street Works charges under 

Section 220 of the Highways Act 1980 and Exemption Notices under Section 219 of the 

Highways Act 1980. 

16.13 To enforce in respect of complaints Part 8 of the Anti-Social Behaviour Act 2003, 

including high hedges. 

16.14 To determine street naming and numbering. 

16.15 To authorise suitable bidding requests for grant aid for shop fronts and industrial 

improvement. 

17. Head of Asset Management 

17.1 To deal with Capital Works Housing stock management and modernisations. 

17.2 To deal with Housing Repairs and Compliance matters.  

17.3 House Building Delivery – To consider and recommend housing building schemes.  

17.4 Estate Management - Property/land acquisition and disposal (except housing stock).  

Page 33



 

 

 

 

 

17.5 To carry into effect approved capital and revenue programmes with regard to the 

Council's housing stock. 

17.6 To manage and maintain buildings and lands held for directorate purposes including 

public car parks, industrial and commercial property. 

17.7 To operate civil parking enforcement on and off street including those vested in the 

Council via an agreement with the County Council as Traffic Authority; save for the 

consideration of parking appeals referred back to the Council by the Traffic Penalties 

Tribunal. 

17.8 In common with the Head of Legal Services acquisitions, appropriations and disposals of 

land or property (except Council Houses) not exceeding the value currently set out in 

Financial Regulations. 

17.9 To consider, negotiate and determine all of the Council’s acquisitions, appropriations 

and disposals of any land or property (except Council houses), lettings, negotiations and 

settlement of leases and rents for Council owned land or property (except Council 

houses), easements, licences or other rights or interests affecting the land whether 

granted or to be granted to or by the Council not exceeding the rental or capital 

consideration currently set out in Financial Regulations and in accordance with the 

Council’s land disposal policy. 

17.10 To negotiate and accept quotations from contractors for such related works classified as 

part of tenders within limits specified in the Financial Regulations. 

17.11 To perform the function of requesting the County Council to apply to the Secretary of 

State for the closure or diversion of a public right of way on the grounds of crime 

reduction, following consultation with any Ward Members and the Crime and Disorder 

Reduction Partnership, for the purposes of the Countryside and Rights of Way Act 2000. 

17.12 To consider and recommend investment in, improvement of and carbon reduction of the 

Council’s housing stock.  

17.13 To negotiate and accept quotations from contractors for works to the Council housing 

stock classified as part of tenders within limits specified in the Financial Regulations. 

18. Head of Housing 

18.1 Housing Operations Management -The Council’s functions as a housing provider and as 

regards its housing stock and housing revenue account. 

18.2 The Council’s functions as regards homelessness. 

Page 34



 

 

 

 

 

18.3 To deal with Income Management.  

18.4 The Council’s functions as regards to Housing Strategy.  

18.5 To perform the Council’s functions with regard to the Council’s housing stock and 

housing revenue account property in accordance with all legislation relevant to housing 

and including homelessness, anti-social behaviour, and allocations. 

18.6 To carry into effect approved capital and revenue programmes and approved policies 

with regard to the Council's housing stock. 

18.7 To approve conditions of sale and administer, in conjunction with the Head of Legal 

Services, the right to buy, voluntary sales schemes and property purchases. 

18.8 To award compensation under the Secure Tenants of Local Authorities (Compensation 

for Improvement) Regulations 1994 unless appropriate to exercise a discretion. 

18.9 To recover rent, rates (from the Council’s housing stock), including the appointment of 

agents for this purpose and pursuit of Court proceedings. 

18.10 To approve bids and adaptations to Council properties up to a maximum of £30,000. 

18.11 To consider and conduct reviews of Council homeless decisions and introductory 

tenancies.  

19. Head of Environment Services 

19.1 To deal with Environmental services and waste collection services. 

19.2 Vehicle, plant, equipment and facilities management, acquisition and disposal. 

19.3 To deal with functions relating to Bereavement Services. 

19.4 To carry into effect approved capital and revenue programmes with regards to the 

Council’s vehicle fleet and improvements to public parks and green spaces. 

19.5 To manage and maintain buildings and land held for Directorate purposes including 

Public Parks, Cemeteries, Woodlands, Play Areas, Recreational Grounds with 

associated Sports Facilities including Pavilions, Nature Reserves, The Nottingham 

Canal, public civil engineering assets and Allotments. 

19.6 To manage and operate the licence, in accordance with statutory obligations, on behalf 

of the Council as Waste Collection Authority. 

Page 35



 

 

 

 

 

19.7 To manage and authorise the acquisition and disposal of all of the Council’s vehicles 

and plant not exceeding the value currently set in the Financial Regulations. 

19.8 To deal with all matters in relation to the provision of vehicles, facilities and equipment 

within the overall capital programme including power to negotiate and execute all leases 

for items of plant and equipment within the capital programme. 

19.9 To establish and review as necessary internal rates in respect of labour, plant and 

materials. 

20. Head of Revenue, Benefits & Customer Services 

20.1 To perform the Council functions in relation to Revenue and benefits. 

20.2 To perform the Council functions in relation to Customer Services Contact Centre. 

20.3 To perform the Council functions in relation to Council Tax and Business Rates.   

20.4 To perform the Council’s Quality & Control functions.  

21. Head of Administrative Services 

21.1 To perform the Council’s Business Support functions.  

21.2 To perform the Council’s elections, electoral registration and Local Land Charges 

functions.  

21.3 To perform the Council’s Support Services & Cleaning functions. 

22.  Chief Environmental Health Officer  

22.1 To perform the Council’s functions, with regards to public protection and environmental 

health under all current and new relevant legislation to include anti-social behaviour, 

occupational health and safety, control of diseases, control of pollution, air quality, 

contaminated land, public health, drainage, statutory nuisance, verminous persons and 

property, animal health and welfare, private sector housing, Sunday trading, food and 

water supplies, environmental protection, health protection unlawful encampments and 

smoking and the regulation and deregulation of businesses. 

22.2 To approve and authorise the payment of housing grants. 

22.3 To implement property charges on dwellings in respect of aids and adaptations. 

22.4 To consider, determine and issue all of the Council’s applications for approvals, 

licences, permits and registration for the Directorate, and if applicable vary, refuse, 

Page 36



 

 

 

 

 

revoke or suspend such approvals, licences, permits and registration in relation to 

relevant Council functions and under the relevant current and new legislation including 

(but not limited to) 

 skin piercing and special treatments 

 pleasure boats and vessels 

 premises for the preparation of food (including the Food Hygiene Rating 
Scheme) 

 animal activities including but not exclusively; dog breeding, pet vending, 
premises where animals are bred or kept as part of a business, animal 
boarding, animal trainers and exhibitors, riding establishments, zoos, 
dangerous wild animals, guard dogs 

 house in multiple occupation 

 mobile homes 

 scrap metal dealers (except for refusals which will go to Committee) 

 pollution control  

 private water supplies 

 health protection Liquor (Licensing Act 2003) 

 Gambling (Gambling Act 2005) 

 street collections 

 house to house collections 

 sex shops and cinemas 

 massage and special treatment 

 vehicles, drivers and operators 

 hypnotism 

 pavement licences 

 Scrap Metal Dealers (Sites and Collectors) 

22.5 To perform the role of Hearing Officer on an application to review a decision to issue 

possession proceedings on the absolute ground. 

22.6 To determine and maintain a matrix of competency and scope of enforcement levels of 

officers within environmental health.   

22.7 To administer Simple Cautions in conjunction with an officer from Legal Services. 

22.8 To be appointed as an Inspector in pursuance of section 19 of the Health and Safety at 

Work etc. Act 1974 authorised to carry out the powers vested in Inspectors by sections 

20, 21, 22 and 25 of the Act and also the several provisions mentioned in the third 

column of Schedule 1 to the 1974 Act and any regulations, orders and instruments made 

hereunder: 

 To authorise persons accompanying them on inspections for the purposes of 
section 20(2)(c)(i) of the Act. 

 To request prosecution proceedings under Section 39 of the Health & Safety at 
Work Etc. Act 1974.  

Page 37



 

 

 

 

 

22.9 To act as an authorised officer under Food Safety Act 1990.  

22.10 To perform all the Council’s functions with regard to moveable dwellings, caravan sites 

and unlawful encampments. 

22.11 To perform the functions of the Council with respect to anti-social behaviour including 

Community Protection Notices and Fixed Penalties.   

22.12 To enforce the powers of the Council in relation to smoking, save that the power to 

instigate legal proceedings is delegated to the Head of Legal Services. 

22.13 To be authorised to carry out private sector housing functions including caravan sites, 

waste, filthy and verminous and HIMO’s and improvement schemes (excluding Housing 

Act Notices, Grant Approvals and Licences). 

22.14 To exercise powers not otherwise provided for by committee under the Licensing Act 

2003 and the Gambling Act 2005, including providing for the discharge of the Authority’s 

functions as a responsible authority within the meaning of the Licensing Act 2003 and 

the Gambling Act 2005. 

22.15 To issue licences for hackney carriage and private hire vehicles which are outside the 

current age limits under the Council’s Exceptional Condition policy. 

22.16 To be authorised to carry out enforcement of all of the functions relating to the Licensing 

activities above (excluding the issue of Licences and Notices). 

23. CHIEF COMMUNTIES OFFICER  

23.1 To perform the Council’s functions, with regards to public protection an under all current 

and new relevant legislation to include anti-social behaviour and smoking. 

23.2 To perform the Council’s functions in the role of Independent Chair on an application to 

review Multi Agency Action in relation to community trigger applications (Anti-Social 

Behaviour Crime and Policing Act 2014. 

23.3 To perform the Council’s functions in authorising the issuing of Community Protection 

Warnings for Anti-Social Behaviour. 

23.4 To perform the Council’s functions with respect to anti-social behaviour including 

Community Protection Notices and Fixed Penalties. 

23.5 To perform the Council’s functions in enforcement of the powers of the Council in 

relation to smoking. 

Page 38



 

 

 

 

 

23.6 To perform the Council’s functions in determining applications for Sanctuary Scheme in 

accordance with the Sanctuary Scheme Policy. 

23.7 To perform the Council’s functions in managing secure systems for Multi-Agency 

information.  

23.8 To perform the Council’s functions in managing the Local Strategic Partnership and 

Community Safety Partnership sharing and Key Individuals Network Contact Systems. 

23.9 To perform the Council’s functions in managing the Local Strategic Partnership and 

Community Safety Partnership.  

23.10 To perform the Council’s functions in managing Partnership finances on behalf of South 

Notts Community Safety Partnership. 

23.11 To perform the Council’s functions in commissioning Domestic Homicide Reviews.  

23.12 To perform the Council’s functions in managing the Vetting Procedure.  

23.13 To perform the Council’s functions in managing and perform the role of Chair the Anti-

Social behaviour and Complex Case Panel. 

23.14 To perform the Council’s functions in determining Safeguarding referrals and referrals 

into other services or agencies. 

23.15 To perform the Council’s functions in determining applications for sharing personal 

information without consent in relation to vulnerable people.  

23.16 To perform the Council’s functions in determining referrals for Child Criminal 

Exploitation, Child Sexual Exploitation, PREVENT, Modern Slavery and Trafficking. 

23.17 To perform the Council’s functions in relation to Section 11 Children Act 2004 and 

Safeguarding Assurance Returns. 

24. SEALING 

24.1 The common seal of the Council shall be kept in a safe place in the custody of the Legal 

team. 

24.2 The common seal of the Council shall only be affixed to a document on the authority of a 

Proper Officer, as detailed in the Schedule of Proper Officer Functions and Delegations 

or otherwise on the authority of the Council, or other Officer with delegated authority to 

commit the Council to enter into an instrument to which the Council’s seal should be 

affixed. 

Page 39



 

 

 

 

 

24.3 An entry of every sealing of a document shall be made, and numbered consecutively, in 

a book kept for that purpose by the Monitoring Officer, and shall identify the persons who 

shall have attested the seal and the date when the seal was affixed. The seal may be 

witnessed and attested by any Officer or Member of the Council. 

 

Schedule of Proper Officer Functions and Delegations 

The Council has approved the appointment of the following Officers as Proper Officers. 

The Chief Executive shall act as the Proper Officer in relation to any other enactment 

where specific arrangements have not been made under the following provisions. 

The Deputy Chief Executive/Section 151 Officer shall act as the Proper Officer in respect of 

any other statute where specific arrangements for financial matters have not been made under 

the following provisions. 

The Monitoring Officer shall act as the Proper Officer in respect of any other statute where 

specific arrangements for legal matters have  not been made under the following provisions. 

Proper Officer functions may be discharged by their Deputies or any other Officers duly 

authorised to act in the name of the Proper Officer concerned. 

If the Officer to whom a function has been delegated is unable to act due to a conflict of interest 

or any other reason, then it is for the Chief Executive to determine who should exercise that 

function. If the Chief Executive is unable to act due to a conflict of interest, or any other reason, 

then it is for the Deputy Chief Executive/Section 151 Officer to determine who should exercise 

that function. If both the Chief Executive and Section 151 Officer is unable to act then the 

powers shall be exercisable by any other Chief Officer of the Council’s General Management 

Team. 

 

STATUTE OR 

REGULATION 

ACTION PROPER 
OFFICER 

SUBSTITUTE 

PROPER OFFICER 

PUBLIC HEALTH ACT 1936 

S.79 Power to require removal of 
noxious matter 

Chief Executive   Chief Environmental 
Officer  

S.84 Certificate relating to cleansing 

or destruction of filthy or 

verminous items 

Chief Executive   Chief Environmental 

Officer  

S.85(2) Cleansing of verminous persons 
or articles 

Chief Executive Chief Environmental 
Health Officer 

Page 40



 

 

 

 

 

STATUTE OR 

REGULATION 

ACTION PROPER 
OFFICER 

SUBSTITUTE 

PROPER OFFICER 

 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 

S.83 (1) to (4) Witness and receipt of 

Declaration of Acceptance of 

Office 

Monitoring Officer    Chief Executive  

S.84 Receipt of notice of resignation of 

Elected Member 

Chief Executive  Deputy Chief 

Executive/Sec

tion 151 

OFFICER  

 

S.88(2) Arranging a Council meeting to 

appoint to Chair of  the Council 

Chief Executive Monitoring Officer 

S.89(1) Notice of casual vacancy Chief Executive Monitoring Officer 

S.100B(2) The Officer also may exclude 

from agendas any information 

which is likely to be dealt with 

in the absence of press and 

public 

Monitoring Officer  Head of Governance   

S.100B(7) Disclosure to newspapers of a 

copy of the agenda and/or any 

further copies of documents in 

connection with the item.  

Monitoring Officer  Head of Governance  

S.100C(2) Where parts of the published  

minutes have not been 

disclosed due to exempt 

information and the document 

does not provide members of 

the public  with a reasonably 

fair and coherent record than 

the proper officer shall  prepare 

a written summary of the 

proceedings at Cabinet/ 

Committees and Sub-

Committees 

Monitoring Officer  Head of Governance  

Page 41



 

 

 

 

 

STATUTE OR 

REGULATION 

ACTION PROPER 
OFFICER 

SUBSTITUTE 

PROPER OFFICER 

S.100D(1) and (5) The Officer responsible for 

identifying and compiling  lists 

of background papers 

Officer supporting 

the portfolio holder 

to compile the 

report. 

The Director of the 

service compiling the 

report. 

S.100F(2) The Officer making decisions 

as to documents disclosing 

exempt information which are 

not required to be open to 

inspection by Council Members 

Chief Executive Monitoring Officer 

S.115(2) Receipt of money due from 

Officers 

Deputy Chief 

Executive/Section 

151 Officer 

Head of Finance 

Services 

S.137 and 137A Receipt of statement provided 

in relation to financial 

assistance 

Deputy Chief 

Executive/Section 

151 Officer 

Head of Finance 

Services 

S.146(1) (a) and (b) Declarations and certificates 

with regard to transfer of 

securities 

Deputy Chief 

Executive/Section 

151 Officer 

Head of Finance 

Services 

S.151 (and S.114 Local 

Government and 

Finance Act 1988) 

The Officer responsible for the 

proper administration of the 

Council’s financial affairs 

Deputy Chief 

Executive/Section 

151 Officer 

Head of Finance 

Services 

S.191 Officer to whom an application 

under S.1 of the Ordnance 

Survey Act 1841 will be sent 

Head of Legal 

Services 

Head of Planning and 

Economic 

Development  

S.210 Charity functions of 

predecessor authorities 

transferred to the Council 

Chief Executive Monitoring Officer 

S.225 Deposit of documents Chief Executive  Head of Legal Services 

Page 42



 

 

 

 

 

STATUTE OR 

REGULATION 

ACTION PROPER 
OFFICER 

SUBSTITUTE 

PROPER OFFICER 

S.228(3) Accounts for inspection by any 

Member of the       Council 

Deputy Chief 

Executive/Section 

151 Officer 

Chief Executive 

S.229(5) Certification of photographic 

copies of documents 

Monitoring Officer  Head of Legal Services 

S.234 Officer who may authenticate 

documents 

Monitoring Officer  Head of Legal Services 

S.236(9) and (10) Sending of copies of byelaws to 

Parish Councils, Parish 

meetings and County Council 

Monitoring Officer  Head of Legal Services 

S.238 Certification of byelaws Monitoring Officer  Head of Legal Services 

S.248 Officer who will keep the Roll of 

Freemen 

Chief Executive Monitoring Officer 

Para 4(2)(b) of Schedule 

12 

Signing of summons to Council 

meeting 

Chief Executive Monitoring Officer 

Para 25 of Schedule 14 Certification of resolution 

passed under this paragraph 

Monitoring Officer Chief Executive 

Schedule 29 To undertake those duties 
which arise at District and 
Parish Council elections which, 
under the Representation of the 
People Acts, are required to be 
undertaken not by the Returning 
Officer but by the Proper Officer. 

Chief Executive  Head of Administrative 

Services 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1974 

S.30(5) To give notice that copies of an 

Ombudsman’s report are 

available 

Monitoring Officer Chief Executive 

LOCAL LAND CHARGES ACT 1975 

 Local Land Charges Registrar 

under the Land  Charges Rules  

Chief Executive  Head of Legal Services 

Page 43



 

 

 

 

 

STATUTE OR 

REGULATION 

ACTION PROPER 
OFFICER 

SUBSTITUTE 

PROPER OFFICER 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT (MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS) ACT 1976 

S.41(1) The Officer who will certify 

copies of evidence of  

resolutions and minutes of 

proceedings 

Monitoring Officer Chief Executive 

REPRESENTATION OF THE PEOPLE ACT 1983 

S.8 Electoral Registration Officer Chief Executive Head of Administrative 

Services 

S.35 Returning Officer for local 

elections 

Chief Executive Head of Administrative 

Services 

S.52(2) Deputy Electoral Registration 

Officer 

Head of 

Administrative 

Services 

Chief Executive 

S.67 Acting as the appropriate 

person for the purposes of Part 

II 

Chief Executive Head of Administrative 

Services 

S.128 Publishing a petition questioning 

a local election 

Chief Executive Head of Administrative 

Services 

S.131 Providing suitable 

accommodation for election 

court 

Chief Executive Head of Administrative 

Services 

S.145 Receipt of High Court Certificate 

at the conclusion of  trial of local 

election petition 

Chief Executive Head of Administrative 

Services 

S.200 Posting notices required in 

relation to local elections 

Chief Executive Head of Administrative 

Services 

Paragraphs 3, 6 and 8 of 

Schedule 4 

Receipt of an election expense 

declarations and returns and the 

holding of those documents for 

public inspection 

Chief Executive Head of Administrative 

Services 

PUBLIC HEALTH (CONTROL OF DISEASE) ACT 1984 

S.48 To issue certificates relative to 

the removal of bodies to 

mortuaries or for immediate 

burial 

All Lead 

Consultants from 

Public Health 

England (East 

Midlands) 

Chief Executive  

Page 44



 

 

 

 

 

STATUTE OR 

REGULATION 

ACTION PROPER 
OFFICER 

SUBSTITUTE 

PROPER OFFICER 

S.60 Service of notices and other 

documents 

Chief Executive  Chief Environmental 

Health Officer 

s.61 Powers to enter premises Chief Executive  Chief Environmental 

Health Officer 

BUILDING ACT 1984 

S.35A Certifying evidence is sufficient 

to justify commencing 

proceedings for contravention of 

building regulations 

Chief Executive 

 

Head of Legal Services 

S.61 Access to work to repair drain Chief Executive Head of Legal 

Services/Chief 

Environmental  Health 

Officer 

S.78 Taking immediate action in 

relation to dangerous building 

Chief Executive Head of Legal 

Services/Chief 

Environmental Health 

Officer 

S.93 Authentication of documents Chief Executive Head of Legal Services 

NOTTINGHAMSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL ACT 1985 

Part II Public Health  Chief Executive Chief Environmental 

Health Officer 

Part III Public Order & Safety  Chief Executive Chief Environmental  

Health Officer 

Part IV  Establishments for massages or 

special treatment 

Chief Executive Chief Environmental  

Health Officer 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT FINANCE ACT 1988 

S114A, 115 Responsibility for Chief 

Financial Officer Reports. 

Section 151 Officer Chief Executive 

S. 116 Notify auditor of meeting to 

consider financial report to the 

authority and decision at that 

meeting 

Section 151 Officer Chief Executive 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT AND HOUSING ACT 1989 

Page 45



 

 

 

 

 

STATUTE OR 

REGULATION 

ACTION PROPER 
OFFICER 

SUBSTITUTE 

PROPER OFFICER 

S.2(4) Recipient of the list of politically 

restricted posts 

Monitoring Officer Chief Executive 

S.4 Designation and reports of head 

of paid service 

Deputy Chief 

Executive/S151 

Officer    

Chief Executive  

S.5 (as amended by 

para 24 of schedule 5 of 

the Local Government 

Act 2000) 

Designation and reports of 

Monitoring Officer 

Monitoring Officer Chief Executive 

S.15,16 To undertake all matters 

relating to the formal 

establishment of political groups 

within the membership of the 

Council 

Chief Executive Deputy Chief 

Executive/Section 151 

Officer  

LOCAL GOVERNMENT (COMMITTEES AND POLITICAL GROUPS) REGULATIONS 1990 NO. 1553 

 For the purposes of the 

composition of Committees and 

nominations to political groups 

Monitoring Officer Chief Executive 

FOOD SAFETY ACT 1990 

s.5(6) Authorised Officer for the 

purposes of the Council’s 

functions 

Chief Executive Environmental Health 

Officers and 

Environmental Health 

Technical Officers 

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION ACT 1990 

S.149 Relating to stray dogs Executive Director Head of Environment 

Part III Relating to statutory nuisances  Chief Executive Chief Environmental 

Health Officer 

DATA PROTECTION ACT 1998 

 Data Protection Officer/Senior 

Information Risk         Owner 

Executive Director  Chief Executive 

FREEDOM OF INFORMATION ACT 2000 

s.36 (2) and (5) The qualified person for the 

purposes of deciding whether 

information is exempt from 

Monitoring Officer Chief Executive 

Page 46



 

 

 

 

 

STATUTE OR 

REGULATION 

ACTION PROPER 
OFFICER 

SUBSTITUTE 

PROPER OFFICER 

disclosure to the public relating 

to the prejudice to the conduct 

of public affairs 

S.36 Determination of all exemptions 

apart from those relating to the 

prejudice to the conduct of 

public affairs 

Monitoring Officer Chief Executive 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2000 

S.52 Undertakings by Members and 

co-opted Members to observe 

the Council’s Code of Conduct 

Monitoring Officer Chief Executive 

REGULATION OF INVESTIGATORY POWERS ACT 2000 

 Authorising Officer and 

Designated Person for the use 

of surveillance and the 

acquisition and disclosure of 

communications data 

Deputy Chief 

Executive/Section 

151 Officer , Head 

of Legal Services, 

Head of Housing, 

Head of Revs and 

Bens. 

Chief Executive  

LOCAL AUTHORITIES (REFERENDUMS) (PETITIONS AND DIRECTIONS) (ENGLAND) 

REGULATIONS 2011 NO. 2914 

Regulation 4 Publish the number that is equal 

to 5 per cent of the number of 

local government electors for 

the authority's area 

Chief Executive Head of Administrative 

Services 

Regulation 7 Post announcement and post 

directions – petitions 

Chief Executive Head of Administrative 

Services 

Regulation 8 Amalgamation of petitions Chief Executive Head of Administrative 

Services 

Regulation 11 Procedure on receipt of petition Chief Executive Head of Administrative 

Services 

Regulation 13 Publicity for valid petitions Chief Executive Head of Administrative 

Services 

Regulation 14 Publicity for invalid petitions Chief Executive Head of Administrative 

Services 

Regulation 19 Action following direction Chief Executive Head of Administrative 

Services 

Page 47



 

 

 

 

 

STATUTE OR 

REGULATION 

ACTION PROPER 
OFFICER 

SUBSTITUTE 

PROPER OFFICER 

THE LOCAL AUTHORITIES (EXECUTIVE ARRANGEMENTS) ACCESS TO INFORMATION 

(ENGLAND) REGULATIONS 2012 NO. 2089 

Regulation 12 Recording of Executive 

decisions made at meetings 

Monitoring Officer  Head of Governance  

Regulation 13 Recording of Executive 

decisions made by individual     

Members 

Monitoring Officer  Head of Governance  

Regulation 14 Making documents available for 

inspection following Executive 

decisions 

Monitoring Officer   Head of Governance 

Regulation 5 Compiling list of background 

papers for inspection 

Monitoring Officer  Head of Governance 

Regulation 15 Making report and background 

papers relating to key decision 

available for inspection 

Monitoring Officer  Head of Governance 

Regulation 7 Access to agenda and 

connected reports 

Monitoring Officer  Head of Governance 

Regulation 9 Publicity in connection with key 

decisions 

Monitoring Officer  Head of Governance 

Regulation 10 General exception Monitoring Officer  Head of Governance 

Regulation 16 Members’ rights of access to 

documents 

Monitoring Officer  Head of Governance 

Regulation 20 Confidential/exempt information 

and exclusion of  public from 

meetings 

Monitoring Officer Head of Governance  

LOCAL AUTHORITIES (MEMBERS’ ALLOWANCES) (ENGLAND) REGULATIONS 2003 

Regulation 13 Receipt of notice in writing that 

a Councillor wishes to forgo any 

part of his entitlement to an 

allowance 

Chief Executive Deputy Chief 

Executive/Section 151 

Officer  

HOUSING ACT 2004 

Section 4 Where an official complaint 

about the condition of any 

residential premises in the 

district of a local housing 

Chief Executive Chief Environmental 

Health Officer 

Page 48



 

 

 

 

 

STATUTE OR 

REGULATION 

ACTION PROPER 
OFFICER 

SUBSTITUTE 

PROPER OFFICER 

authority is made to the proper 

Officer of the authority, and the 

circumstances complained of 

indicate – 

a) That any category 1 or 
category 2 hazard may 
exist on those premises, or 

b) That an area in the district 
should be dealt with as a 
clearance area, the proper 
Officer must inspect the 
premises or area. 

LOCAL ELECTIONS (PARISHES AND COMMUNITIES) (ENGLAND AND WALES) RULES 2006 NO. 

3305 

Rule 5 Receipt of request to fill a 

casual vacancy in the office of a 

Parish or Community Councillor 

Chief Executive Head of Administrative 

Services 

Paragraph 50 of 

Schedule 2 

Receipt of declaration of result 

in Parish or  Community election 

Chief Executive Head of Administrative 

Services 

THE LOCAL AUTHORITIES (MAYORAL ELECTIONS) (ENGLAND AND WALES) REGULATIONS 

2007 NO.1024 

Paragraph 54 of 

Schedule 1 

Receive declaration of result Chief Executive Head of Administrative 

Services 

LOCAL AUTHORITIES (CONDUCT OF REFERENDUMS) (ENGLAND) REGULATIONS 2012 NO 323 

Regulation 4 Publicity in connection with 

referendums 

Chief Executive Head of Administrative 

Services 

Paragraphs 41 and 43 

of Schedule 5 

Receive declaration of result Chief Executive Head of Administrative 

Services 
 

 

 

 

 

Authentication of Documents 

Any notice, order or other document which the Council are authorised or required by or under 

any enactment (including the Local Government Act 1972) to give, make or issue shall be 

signed or sealed on behalf of the Council by the proper Officer of the Council as defined below. 

 

 

Page 49



 

 

 

 

 

Proper Officer Substitute Purpose 

Chief Executive Appropriate Member of GMT In accordance with their 

functions highlighted in 

the Constitution and the 

Proper Officer functions 

Deputy Chief Executive/Section 151 

Officer  

Head of Finance Services In accordance with their 

functions highlighted in 

the Constitution and the 

Proper Officer functions 

Monitoring Officer Head of Planning & Economic 

Development  

Head of Administrative Services 

Head of Legal Services & Deputy 

Monitoring Officer 

In accordance with their 

functions highlighted in 

the Constitution and the 

Proper Officer functions 

Head of Legal Services Chief Executive In accordance with their 

functions highlighted in 

the Constitution and the 

Proper Officer functions 

Chief Environmental Health Officer  Chief Executive In accordance with their 

functions highlighted in 

the Constitution and the 

Proper Officer functions 

Head of Asset Management  Chief Executive In accordance with their 

functions highlighted in 

the Constitution and the 

Proper Officer functions 

Page 50



 

 

 

 

 

Head of Planning and Economic 

Development  

 

 

Chief Executive 

 

 

 

 

 

In accordance with their 

functions highlighted in 

the Constitution and the 

Proper Officer functions 

 

 

 

Head of Housing  Chief Executive  In accordance with their 

functions highlighted in 

the Constitution and the 

Proper Officer functions 

 

 
 

 

 

Page 51



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3. MINUTES
	13. SCHEME OF DELEGATION
	1.0    Header page   Scheme of Delegation
	1.1  Chapter 3 Part 1 The Scheme of Delegation


